
IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

MOHAMMAD HAMED, by his
authorized agent WALEED HAMED,

Case No. : SX-2012-cv-37 0

Pl ai ntiff/Cou nte rcl ai m Defend a nt,
VS ACTION FOR DAMAGES,

INJUNCT¡VE RELIEF AND
DECLARATORY RELIEF

FATHI YUSUF and UNITED CORPORATION,

Defe nd a nts and Co u nte rcl ai m a nts JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

VS.

WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED,
MUFEED HAMED, HISHAM HAMED, and
PLESSEN ENTERPRISES, INC.,

Cou nterclaim Defendants.

MOHAMMAD HAMED, Case No. : SX-2 01 4-CV -27 I

Plaintiff,

FATHI YUSUF,

ACTION FOR DEBT AND
CONVERSION
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Defendant.

PLAINTIFF HAMED'S
NOTICE OF SUPPLEMENTATION OF RECORD

On October 17, 2016, Plaintiff Hamed filed his revised Notice of Partnership

Claims and his Objections. On page 6, at footnote 7, he referenced the Experi Report

of David Jackson in support of his contention as to "Yusuf's exclusive control of the

business accounting" and the impossibility of a valid pre-2012 partnership accounting.

VS
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7 See, Expert Report of Lawrence Schoenbach, attached as Exhibit C.
This is a report done pursuant to the Court's scheduling order - as was
the Expert Report of David Jackson filed on August 1,2014. See also
the extensive averments of the parties and detailed findings of this Court
of record as to Yusufs exclusive control of the business accounting
recited in that Expert Report at footnote 7, pages B-9.

It has been brought to Hamed's attention that the Jackson Expert Report, while served

on opposing counsel on that date, was not filed with the Court under the applicable rule

- and therefore should have been attached as an exhibit to Hamed's filing.

Thus, that Expert Report is attached hereto as Exhibit A, and Plaintiff requests

that it be included in the Court's consideration of the pendi m ion practice.

Dated: November 30, 2016
Joel

for Plaintiff
of Joel H. HoltLaw

2132 Company Street,
Christiansted, Vl 00820
Email: holtvi@aol.com
Tele: (340) 773-8709
Fax: (340) 773-8677

Carl J. Hartmann lll, Esq.
Co-Cou n sel for Plai ntiff
5000 Estate Coakley Bay, L6
Christiansted, Vl 00820
Email: carl@carlhartmann.com
Tele: (340) 719-8941

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 30th day of November, 2016, I served a copy of the
foregoing by email, as agreed by the parties, on:

Hon. Edgar Ross
Special Master
% edgarrossj udge@hotmail.com
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Gregory H. Hodges
Law House, 10000 Frederiksberg Gade
P.O. Box 756
St. Thomas, Vl 00802
ghodges@dtflaw.com

Mark W. Eckard
Hamm, Eckard, LLP
5030 Anchor Way
Christiansted, Vl 00820
mark@markeckard.com

Jeffrey B. C. Moorhead
CRT Brow Building
1132King Street, Suite 3
Christiansted, Vl 00820
jeffreymlaw @yahoo.com
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JONATHAN DAVID JACKSON, CPA 
P. O. Box 24831 Christiansted, St. Croix, VI 00824 
Work (340) 719-8261 Cell   (340) 690-7040 

I am a licensed CPA in both the USVI and Texas.  Currently I practice under J. David Jackson, PC in the 
USVI and under J. David Jackson, LC in Texas.  In addition, I am the President and managing member 
of Territory East Asset Management, LLC.   

PERSONAL

DOB:  February 7, 1953,  Galveston, Texas 

EDUCATION

1993 Bachelor of Science in Business Administration: West Texas A&M University,  Canyon, TX  
Major: Accounting.  Graduated Cum Laude 

1991 Associate of Science in Business Administration:  Amarillo College, Amarillo, TX Major:  
Business Administration.  Graduated  Magna Cum Laude 

1971 Cal Farley’s Boys Ranch High School, Amarillo, TX

PROFESSIONAL CERTIFICATIONS 

Certified Public Accountant - Texas: 1996-Present 
Certified Public Accountant - United States Virgin Islands: June 2005- Present 

PROFESSIONAL AFFILIATIONS 
Texas State Board of Public Accountancy 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
Virgin Islands Board of Public Accountancy 
Virgin Islands Society of Certified Public Accountants 

COMMUNITY SERVICE 
Bank of St. Croix – Board member 
St Croix Foundation For Community Development: Finance Chair:  2001 to 2009. 
St Croix VI’s Joyful Voices Community Choir, Inc.: Founding member: 2001 to 2009. 
STATEMENT OF FEES 

Court room appearance $500.00 per hour 
Consulting   $250.00 per hour 
Tax preparation   $225.00 per hour 

I have not testified at trial and have no publications.
I have not been retained as an expert in any depositions.
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Documents Reviewed  
Hamed v Yusuf, SX-12-CV-370 

Exhibits
All documents contained in Exhibits 1-12 

Court Orders 
Court orders and opinions in this matter 

Documents related to checks to United/Yusuf attorneys 
HAMD203422-HAMD203423--2012 11 16 DiRuzzo 99254 Check_No. 4195 
HAMD261896-HAMD261897--2013 01 21 DiRuzzo 111660 Check_No 4642 
HAMD277362-HAMD277363--2013 02 13 DiRuzzo 112383 Check_No 4819 
HAMD562193-HAMD562194--2013 03 06 DiRuzzo 82275 Check_No 5005 
HAMD562231-HAMD562232--2013 04 03 DiRuzzo 54938 Check_No 5193 

Document related to the receipt system 
Plaza Extra Receipt System Description for Adams_Jackson 
HAMD592082-HAMD592168--Receipt System C__Hamed Receipts as produced by Yusuf 
showing 2.7M.pdf 
HAMD592045-HAMD592071--Receipt System C_Sampling of Yusuf Receipts. 
HAMD260749-HAMD260759--Receipt System D_Hamed Check Receipts 
HAMD592169-HAMD592198--Receipt System D_2001-2004 Yusuf Check Receipts 

HAMD593190-HAMD593191--2001 Willie Fathi Receipt Reconciliation 
HAMD593188-HAMD593189--2000 Willie Fathi Receipt Reconciliation 
HAMD255290-HAMD255291--1999 Willie Fathi Receipt Reconciliation 
HAMD593179-HAMD593181--1998 Willie Fathi Receipt Reconciliation 
HAMD593177-HAMD593178--1997 Willie Fathi Receipt Reconciliation 

HAMD580428-HAMD580431--1999-2001 Yusuf Home receipts 
HAMD593182-HAMD593185--1999-2001 Willie Home receipts 
HAMD593186-HAMD593187--1999-2001 Willie Home receipts_Jose Roman 

Taxes
HAMD200293-HAMD200302--2012 10 08 Ltr to DiRuzzo frm Holt re conflict 
HAMD200316-HAMD200316--2012 10 12 Ltr to Holt frm DiRuzzo re tax returns 
HAMD200826-HAMD200899--2012 10 22 Ltr to DiRuzzo frm Holt re tax liability 
HAMD243333-HAMD243339--2012 12 24 Holt Ltr to DiRuzzo_DeWood re taxes 
HAMD562199-HAMD562201--2013 03 14 Ltr to DiRuzzo DeWood frm Holt re plea agreement 
HAMD562207-HAMD562207--2013 03 19 Ltr to Holt frm DiRuzzo re partnership 

HAMD588294-HAMD588294--2013 06 20 Ltr to Hameds from IRB_2002-2011 taxes pd 
HAMD588295-HAMD588295--2013 06 20 Ltr to Hameds from IRB_97-01 taxes 

YUSF101167-YUSF101194--United filed CY2002 tax return_signed.stamped
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YUSF101195-YUSF101225--United filed CY2003 tax return_signed.stamped
YUSF101226-YUSF101248--United filed CY2004 tax return_signed.stamped
YUSF101249-YUSF101270--United filed CY2005 tax return_signed.stamped
YUSF101271-YUSF101296--United filed CY2006 tax return_signed.stamped
YUSF101297-YUSF101322--United filed CY2007 tax return_signed.stamped
YUSF101323-YUSF101357--United filed CY2008 tax return_signed.stamped
YUSF101358-YUSF101385--United filed CY2009 tax return_signed.stamped
YUSF101386-YUSF101412--United filed CY2010 tax return_signed.stamped
YUSF101413-YUSF101441--United filed CY2011 tax return_signed.stamped
YUSF101442-YUSF101488--2012 United tax return_NOT signed.pdf

HAMD591985-HAMD591990--Yusuf Kids Taxes_1330 Motion to Alter the TRO for Release of 
Funds 2013 02 21 
HAMD562624-HAMD562630--Yusufs and Children 4th Qtr 2008 Income Tax Checks 

Criminal
Case
Bates
No.

Hamed v
Yusuf Bates

No. Date
Amount of
Receipt Description

449 1076
HAMD212533
HAMD212533 NA $2,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed
Receipt written by: Wadda Charriez

None
HAMD591980
HAMD591980 1989 03 10 $20,000.00

Hamed receipt to Mohammad Hamed
Signature: Mohammad Hamed
Receipt written by: Maher Yusuf

None
HAMD591981
HAMD591981 1997 02 05 $10,000.00

Hamed receipt to Mohammad Hamed
Signature: Mohammad Hamed
Receipt written by: Maher Yusuf

None
HAMD591982
HAMD591982 1997 03 31 $15,000.00

Hamed receipt to Mohammad Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed
Receipt written by: Maher Yusuf

None
HAMD591984
HAMD591984 1997 05 07 $35,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed
Receipt written by: Maher Yusuf

None
HAMD591983
HAMD591983 1997 05 07 $35,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed
Receipt written by: Maher Yusuf

446 0093
HAMD211405
HAMD211406 ??/??/1998 $500.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Glenn from Glenn Electric

446 0060
HAMD211371
HAMD211371 1998 03 13 $2,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Receipt written by: Waleed Hamed

446 0061
HAMD211372
HAMD211372 1998 03 27 $2,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed
Receipt written by: Waleed Hamed

446 0062
HAMD211373
HAMD211373 1998 04 07 $2,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Not signed
Receipt written by: Unknown

446 0091
HAMD211403
HAMD211404 1998 04 20 $500.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed
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Criminal
Case
Bates
No.

Hamed v
Yusuf Bates

No. Date
Amount of
Receipt Description

446 0096
HAMD211408
HAMD211408 1998 09 07 $200.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Glenn of Glenn Electric

446 0098
HAMD211410
HAMD211410 1998 09 09 $1,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed
Receipt written by: Unknown

446 0095
HAMD211407
HAMD211407 1998 09 15 $100.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Glenn of Glenn Electric

446 0097
HAMD211409
HAMD211409 1998 11 20 $350.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Maybe Glenn's from Glenn Electric
Receipt written by: Unknown

340 0051
HAMD227957
HAMD227957 1999 08 13 $2,500.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Juan Rosario

340 0048
HAMD227954
HAMD227955 1999 09 03 $500.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

340 0050
HAMD227956
HAMD227956 1999 09 03 $300.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

340 0052
HAMD227958
HAMD227958 1999 09 03 $1,000.00 Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed

446 0066
HAMD211377
HAMD211377 1999 09 18 $1,700.00 Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed

340 0047
HAMD227953
HAMD227953 1999 10 18 $3,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

340 0046
HAMD227952
HAMD227952 1999 11 08 $5,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

340 0044
HAMD227950
HAMD227951 1999 11 23 $1,600.00 Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed

340 0043
HAMD227949
HAMD227949 1999 11 30 $5,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

340 0042
HAMD227948
HAMD227948 1999 12 07 $3,626.75

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed
Receipt written by: Mufeed Hamed

340 0041
HAMD227947
HAMD227947 1999 12 09 $0.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed
Note: No amount is listed on the receipt

340 0040
HAMD227946
HAMD227946 1999 12 17 $2,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Juan Rosario & Waleed Hamed

340 0038
HAMD227944
HAMD227944 1999 12 29 $1,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
For: Juan Rosario, contractor possibly for Waleed
Hamed's house
Signature: Juan Rosario
Receipt written by: Unknown
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Criminal
Case
Bates
No.

Hamed v
Yusuf Bates

No. Date
Amount of
Receipt Description

340 0037
HAMD227943
HAMD227943 2000 01 10 $3,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

340 0036
HAMD227942
HAMD227942 2000 01 14 $3,500.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

340 0035
HAMD227941
HAMD227941 2000 01 25 $2,500.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

340 0034
HAMD227940
HAMD227940 2000 01 27 $3,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

340 0031
HAMD227937
HAMD227937 2000 02 19 $1,785.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed
Receipt written by: Unknown

340 0025
HAMD227931
HAMD227931 2000 02 23 $3,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

340 0064
HAMD227970
HAMD227970 2000 03 18 $1,200.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed and Juan Rosario

340 0024
HAMD227930
HAMD227930 2000 04 12 $10,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

340 0023
HAMD227929
HAMD227929 2000 05 22 $3,500.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

340 0022
HAMD227928
HAMD227928 2000 06 06 $4,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

340 0021
HAMD227927
HAMD227927 2000 06 07 $3,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

340 0020
HAMD227926
HAMD227926 2000 06 11 $3,500.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

340 0019
HAMD227925
HAMD227925 2000 06 19 $400.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

340 0018
HAMD227924
HAMD227924 2000 06 23 $3,500.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

340 0017
HAMD227923
HAMD227923 2000 06 26 $5,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

340 0016
HAMD227922
HAMD227922 2000 06 30 $4,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

340 0015
HAMD227921
HAMD227921 2000 07 07 $13,362.00 Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed

340 0014
HAMD227920
HAMD227920 2000 08 07 $3,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

340 0013
HAMD227919
HAMD227919 2000 08 11 $4,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: maybe Waleed Hamed, hard to tell

340 0012
HAMD227918
HAMD227918 2000 08 13 $325.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

340 0010
HAMD227916
HAMD227916 2000 08 28 $4,500.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed
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Criminal
Case
Bates
No.

Hamed v
Yusuf Bates

No. Date
Amount of
Receipt Description

340 0011
HAMD227917
HAMD227917 2000 09 28 $4,750.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

340 0008
HAMD227914
HAMD227914 2000 10 19 $3,500.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

340 0053
HAMD227959
HAMD227959 2001 02 08 $720.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed and Zilton Francis

449 1649
HAMD213128
HAMD213128 2001 03 17 $1,166.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
For: Unknown
Signature: Waleed Hamed
Receipt written by: Unknown

449 1648
HAMD213127
HAMD213127 2001 03 31 $970.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Zilton Francis, Waleed Hamed

449 1673
HAMD213152
HAMD213152 2001 03 31 $1,248.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

449 1628
HAMD213107
HAMD213107 2001 04 04 $1,500.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

449 1650
HAMD213129
HAMD213129 2001 05 02 $1,500.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed
Receipt initialed by Yusuf Yusuf, which may mean
that Yusuf Yusuf gave the money to Wally

449 0491
HAMD211937
HAMD211937 2001 05 08 $2,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

449 1657
HAMD213136
HAMD213136 2001 05 10 $1,500.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed
Receipt written by: Wadda Charriez

449 0495
HAMD211941
HAMD211941 2001 05 14 $2,500.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

449 0493
HAMD211939
HAMD211939 2001 05 15 $3,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

449 1669
HAMD213148
HAMD213148 2001 05 22 $300.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Fathi, the cousin

Note: Yusuf Yusuf initialed the document and gave
out the money

449 1664
HAMD213143
HAMD213143 2001 05 24 $1,271.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed and Augustin Angel,
contractor

449 1663
HAMD213142
HAMD213142 2001 05 28 $1,165.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

449 1661
HAMD213140
HAMD213140 2001 06 04 $2,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

449 1631
HAMD213110
HAMD213110 2001 06 06 $6,375.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed
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Criminal
Case
Bates
No.

Hamed v
Yusuf Bates

No. Date
Amount of
Receipt Description

449 0549
HAMD211995
HAMD211995 2001 06 11 $2,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

449 0551
HAMD211997
HAMD211997 2001 06 18 $3,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed
Receipt written by: Waleed Hamed

449 0552
HAMD211998
HAMD211998 2001 06 19 $3,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

449 0553
HAMD211999
HAMD211999 2001 06 20 $3,500.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

449 1635
HAMD213114
HAMD213114 2001 06 26 $1,500.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

449 0556
HAMD212002
HAMD212002 2001 07 07 $2,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

449 1246
HAMD212711
HAMD212711 2001 07 09 $2,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

449 1247
HAMD212712
HAMD212712 2001 07 10 $3,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

449 1245
HAMD212710
HAMD212710 2001 07 12 $3,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

449 1660
HAMD213139
HAMD213139 2001 07 16 $2,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

449 1658
HAMD213137
HAMD213137 2001 07 17 $2,500.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

449 1606
HAMD213085
HAMD213085 2001 07 20 $2,500.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

449 1244
HAMD212709
HAMD212709 2001 07 22 $5,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

449 1259
HAMD212726
HAMD212726 2001 07 25 $3,000.00 Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed

449 0557
HAMD212003
HAMD212003 2001 08 06 $5,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

449 0559
HAMD212005
HAMD212005 2001 08 07 $3,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

449 0560
HAMD212006
HAMD212006 2001 08 08 $5,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

449 1644
HAMD213123
HAMD213123 2001 08 09 $2,500.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

449 0561
HAMD212007
HAMD212007 2001 08 10 $2,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: None

449 1618
HAMD213097
HAMD213097 2001 08 31 $2,500.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed
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Criminal
Case
Bates
No.

Hamed v
Yusuf Bates

No. Date
Amount of
Receipt Description

449 1619
HAMD213098
HAMD213098 2001 09 07 $2,000.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed
Signature: Waleed Hamed

449 1655
HAMD213134
HAMD213134 2001 09 10 $5,950.00

Hamed receipt to Waleed Hamed

Note Yusuf Yusuf initialed the receipt

Criminal
Case

Bates No.
Hamed v Yusuf

Bates No. Date
Amount of Bank

Account Description

None
HAMD200103
HAMD200103 2012 08 15 $1,600,000.00

Criminal
Case Bates

No.
Hamed v Yusuf

Bates No. Date
Amount of
Receipt Description

None
YUSF101602
YUSF101602 NA $300.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101648
YUSF101648 NA $10,392.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101624
YUSF101624 NA $5,000.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

449 1195
YUSF105281
YUSF105281 1/11/1997 $7,000.00 Hamed receipt for Tashin Hamid

449 1196
YUSF105282
YUSF105282 2/17/1997 $5,000.00 Hamed receipt for Tashin Hamid

449 1197
YUSF105283
YUSF105283 2/28/1997 $5,000.00 Hamed receipt for Tashin Hamid

449 1198
YUSF105284
YUSF105284 4/9/1997 $8,000.00 Hamed receipt for Tashin Hamid

446 0064
YUSF105268
YUSF105268 12/??/1998 $4,000.00 Hamed receipt for Adnanal Hamed

449 1260
YUSF105270
YUSF105270 12/11/1998 $40,000.00 Hamed receipt

449 1261
YUSF106362
YUSF106362 1999 02 05 $25,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

449 1235
YUSF106357
YUSF106357 1999 02 09 $25,000.00

Loan in the amount of $25,000 for Mr. Fawzi Asad
fromWaleed Hamed

449 1239
YUSF106361
YUSF106361 1999 02 16 $17,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

449 1238
YUSF106360
YUSF106360 1999 02 22 $25,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed
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Criminal
Case Bates

No.
Hamed v Yusuf

Bates No. Date
Amount of
Receipt Description

449 1237
YUSF106359
YUSF106359 1999 07 09 $22,500.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

449 1236
YUSF106358
YUSF106358 1999 09 27 $10,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

340 0063
YUSF106522
YUSF106522 1999 12 31 $0.00

Receipt for Wally for 1 container of 5 gallon paint.
Dollar amount of receipt unknown.

069 0317
HAMD593186
HAMD593187 ??/??/00 $303,997.06

Summary of Willie Hamed (Jose Roman) from
4/28/00 10/9/01

340 0099
YUSF106670
YUSF106670 2000 02 22 $500.00

Receipt to Juan Rosario fromWaheed Hamed for
$500.00

None
YUSF101685
YUSF101685 2000 04 02 $340.00 Hamed receipt for Juan Rosario

340 0029
HAMD595891
HAMD595891 2000 05 25 $2,000.00 Receipt signed by Waleed Hamed for $2,000

340 0030
HAMD595892
HAMD595892 2000 06 04 $200.00 Receipt signed by Waleed Hamed for $200.00

340 0003
HAMD595885
HAMD595885 2000 08 29 $1,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed for $1,000.

340 0002
HAMD595884
HAMD595884 2000 08 30 $4,500.00

Receipt to Waleed Hamed signed by Waleed
Hamed for $4,500

None
YUSF101654
YUSF101654 2000 09 11 $900.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101684
YUSF101684 2000 09 20 $100.00 Hamed receipt for Mufeed Hamed

340 0004
HAMD595886
HAMD595886 2000 10 03 $4,500.00

Receipt to Waleed Hamed signed by Waleed
Hamed for $4,500

340 0006
HAMD595888
HAMD595888 2000 10 10 $3,500.00

Receipt to Waleed Hamed signed by Waleed
Hamed for $3,500

340 0005
HAMD595887
HAMD595887 2000 10 12 $3,500.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed for $3,500

340 0007
HAMD595889
HAMD595889 2000 10 17 $4,000.00

Receipt to Waleed Hamed signed by Waleed
Hamed for $4,000

None
YUSF101626
YUSF101626 2001 01 19 $300.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101618
YUSF101618 2001 01 20 $1,600.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101617
YUSF101617 2001 01 27 $600.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101615
YUSF101615 2001 01 27 $300.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101672
YUSF101672 2001 02 04 $1,000.00 Hamed receipt for Mufeed Hamed
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Criminal
Case Bates

No.
Hamed v Yusuf

Bates No. Date
Amount of
Receipt Description

None
YUSF106444
YUSF106444 2001 02 05 $3,000.00 Receipt for Waleed Hamed

449 1304
YUSUF105290
YUSUF105290 2/11/2001 $6,000.00 Hamed receipt for Tashin Hamid

None
YUSF101679
YUSF101679 2001 02 21 $1,488.00 Hamed receipt for Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF106445
YUSF106445 2001 04 04 $2,000.00 Receipt for Waleed Hamed

449 0461
YUSF106648
YUSF106649 2001 04 21 $1,000.00

Receipt to Waleed Hamed for $1000, with the
notation of Philip repairs house. Signed by Blaer
Philip

449 1433
YUSF106672
YUSF106672 2001 05 08 $270.00

For juan rosario (contractor) written by unknown.
Signed on the bottom by juan rosario.

449 0541
HAMD595895
HAMD595895 2001 06 30 $200.00

Receipt written to Waleed Hamed for $200 and
signed by Waleed Hamed

449 1659
HAMD595897
HAMD595897 2001 07 14 $100.00

Receipt written to Waleed Hamed for $100 and
signed by Waleed Hamed

449 1231
YUSF106671
YUSF106671 2001 07 20 $1,004.45

For juan rosario (contractor)
Signed on the bottom by juan rosario.

449 0558
HAMD595896
HAMD595896 2001 08 04 $100.00

Receipt written to Waleed Hamed for $100 and
signed by Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106446
YUSF106446 2001 08 27 $200.00 Receipt for Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106447
YUSF106447 2001 08 29 $2,000.00 Receipt for Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106448
YUSF106448 2001 09 04 $4,500.00 Receipt for Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106449
YUSF106449 2001 09 07 $194.00 Receipt for Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106450
YUSF106450 2001 09 10 $2,000.00 Receipt for Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106451
YUSF106451 2001 09 17 $200.00 Receipt for Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106452
YUSF106452 2001 09 17 $2,000.00 Receipt for Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF101655
YUSF101655 2001 09 18 $300.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101653
YUSF101653 2001 09 22 $100.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF106453
YUSF106453 2001 09 24 $2,500.00 Receipt for Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106454
YUSF106454 2001 09 25 $150.00 Receipt for Waleed Hamed
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Criminal
Case Bates

No.
Hamed v Yusuf

Bates No. Date
Amount of
Receipt Description

None
YUSF106455
YUSF106455 2001 09 25 $20.00 Receipt for Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF101582
YUSF101582 2001 09 25 $500.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF106456
YUSF106456 2001 09 26 $2,000.00 Receipt for Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106457
YUSF106457 2001 10 01 $2,000.00 Receipt for Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF101658
YUSF101658 2001 10 01 $1,000.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101682
YUSF101682 2001 10 02 $10.00 Hamed receipt for Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF106458
YUSF106458 2001 10 03 $2,000.00 Receipt for Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF101651
YUSF101651 2001 10 04 $300.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101656
YUSF101656 2001 10 06 $100.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101581
YUSF101581 2001 10 09 $1,000.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF106459
YUSF106459 2001 10 09 $25.00 Receipt for Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106460
YUSF106460 2001 10 10 $2,500.00 Receipt for Waleed Hamed

069 0325
HAMD593182
HAMD593185 2001 10 12 $800,022.56

Summary of Willie Hamed receipts from 2/8/99
11/15/00 and Summary of Willie Hamed receipts
from 11/20/2000 10/12/01

None
YUSF101616
YUSF101616 2001 10 13 $300.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

254 0461
HAMD428975
HAMD428975 2001 10 19 $34,500.00 Hamed receipt to Hisham Hamed

None
YUSF101664
YUSF101664 2001 10 30 $200.00 Hamed receipt for Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF106461
YUSF106461 2001 11 05 $100.00 Receipt for Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106462
YUSF106462 2001 11 06 $3,000.00 Receipt for Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF101603
YUSF101603 2001 11 10 $350.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101663
YUSF101663 2001 11 13 $500.00 Hamed receipt for Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101681
YUSF101681 2001 11 21 $510.00 Hamed receipt for Mufeed Hamed
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Criminal
Case Bates

No.
Hamed v Yusuf

Bates No. Date
Amount of
Receipt Description

None
YUSF101667
YUSF101667 2001 11 24 $100.00 Hamed receipt for Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101604
YUSF101604 2001 11 26 $300.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101668
YUSF101668 2001 11 26 $350.00 Hamed receipt for Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101671
YUSF101671 2001 11 27 $1,410.00 Hamed receipt for Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101583
YUSF101583 2001 11 29 $750.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101630
YUSF101630 2001 11 29 $350.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101629
YUSF101629 2001 12 01 $109.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101622
YUSF101622 2001 12 03 $350.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101657
YUSF101657 2001 12 06 $30.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101691
YUSF101691 2001 12 06 $60.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101683
YUSF101683 2001 12 07 $225.00 Hamed receipt for Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101690
YUSF101690 2001 12 12 $50.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101605
YUSF101605 2001 12 14 $500.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101621
YUSF101621 2001 12 14 $13,000.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101619
YUSF101619 2001 12 21 $2,000.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF106463
YUSF106463 2001 12 24 $2,056.00 Receipt for Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF101620
YUSF101620 2001 12 27 $2,500.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101645
YUSF101645 2001 12 29 $400.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101580
YUSF101580 2001 12 31 $700.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF106464
YUSF106464 2002 01 08 $3,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106465
YUSF106465 2002 01 14 $2,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed
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Criminal
Case Bates

No.
Hamed v Yusuf

Bates No. Date
Amount of
Receipt Description

None
YUSF101623
YUSF101623 2002 01 15 $300.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101607
YUSF101607 2002 01 15 $3,000.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF106466
YUSF106466 2002 01 15 $2,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF101670
YUSF101670 2002 01 17 $500.00 Hamed receipt for Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101625
YUSF101625 2002 01 19 $500.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101627
YUSF101627 2002 01 22 $350.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF106467
YUSF106467 2002 01 24 $2,500.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106468
YUSF106468 2002 01 25 $2,500.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF101628
YUSF101628 2002 01 25 $300.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101579
YUSF101579 2002 01 26 $2,000.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF106469
YUSF106469 2002 01 28 $100.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106470
YUSF106470 2002 01 31 $2,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106471
YUSF106471 2002 02 01 $2,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF101578
YUSF101578 2002 02 02 $700.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101608
YUSF101608 2002 02 04 $4,000.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF106472
YUSF106472 2002 02 05 $2,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106473
YUSF106473 2002 02 06 $2,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106474
YUSF106474 2002 02 07 $1,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF101666
YUSF101666 2002 02 11 $5,000.00 Hamed receipt for Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF106475
YUSF106475 2002 02 14 $5,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106476
YUSF106476 2002 02 16 $5,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed
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Criminal
Case Bates

No.
Hamed v Yusuf

Bates No. Date
Amount of
Receipt Description

None
YUSF101614
YUSF101614 2002 02 16 $1,000.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101661
YUSF101661 2002 02 19 $1,000.00 Hamed receipt for Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101652
YUSF101652 2002 02 21 $35.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF106477
YUSF106477 2002 02 25 $6,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF101600
YUSF101600 2002 02 26 $1,000.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF106484
YUSF106484 2002 02 27 $5,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF101633
YUSF101633 2002 02 28 $300.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF106478
YUSF106478 2002 03 04 $2,500.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106479
YUSF106479 2002 03 06 $20.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106481
YUSF106481 2002 03 07 $5.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106480
YUSF106480 2002 03 07 $1,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF101606
YUSF101606 2002 03 07 $6,000.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101613
YUSF101613 2002 03 16 $350.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF106482
YUSF106482 2002 03 21 $3,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106483
YUSF106483 2002 03 26 $25.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106485
YUSF106485 2002 03 27 $4.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106486
YUSF106486 2002 03 28 $2,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF101659
YUSF101659 2002 04 01 $225.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF106487
YUSF106487 2002 04 02 $8,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106488
YUSF106488 2002 04 04 $10,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF101601
YUSF101601 2002 04 04 $150.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed
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Criminal
Case Bates

No.
Hamed v Yusuf

Bates No. Date
Amount of
Receipt Description

None
YUSF101612
YUSF101612 2002 04 07 $500.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF106489
YUSF106489 2002 04 08 $10,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF101662
YUSF101662 2002 04 11 $300.00 Hamed receipt for Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101609
YUSF101609 2002 04 14 $500.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101646
YUSF101646 2002 04 22 $5,000.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101665
YUSF101665 2002 04 22 $25.45 Hamed receipt for Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101598
YUSF101598 2002 04 26 $225.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101599
YUSF101599 2002 05 02 $450.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101634
YUSF101634 2002 05 06 $575.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF106490
YUSF106490 2002 05 09 $5,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF101669
YUSF101669 2002 05 14 $200.00 Hamed receipt for Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101610
YUSF101610 2002 05 14 $100.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF106491
YUSF106491 2002 05 17 $5,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF101650
YUSF101650 2002 05 20 $3,000.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101649
YUSF101649 2002 05 20 $7,000.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101585
YUSF101585 2002 05 21 $207.86 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101584
YUSF101584 2002 05 25 $450.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101611
YUSF101611 2002 05 25 $1,000.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF106493
YUSF106493 2002 05 27 $1,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106494
YUSF106494 2002 05 28 $5,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF101587
YUSF101587 2002 05 30 $3,500.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed
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Criminal
Case Bates

No.
Hamed v Yusuf

Bates No. Date
Amount of
Receipt Description

None
YUSF101588
YUSF101588 2002 05 31 $2,000.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF106495
YUSF106495 2002 06 04 $5,000.00

Receipt to Waleed Hamed
Sister trip

None
YUSF101589
YUSF101589 2002 06 06 $2,500.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101590
YUSF101590 2002 06 15 $20,500.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101594
YUSF101594 2002 06 15 $700.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101571
YUSF101571 2002 06 17 $410.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF106496
YUSF106496 2002 06 22 $5,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF101563
YUSF101563 2002 06 27 $300.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF106498
YUSF106498 2002 07 02 $5,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF101678
YUSF101678 2002 07 05 $6.00 Hamed receipt for Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF106499
YUSF106499 2002 07 05 $2,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106500
YUSF106500 2002 07 06 $3,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106501
YUSF106501 2002 07 08 $4,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF101596
YUSF101596 2002 07 09 $5,000.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF106502
YUSF106502 2002 07 15 $5,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106503
YUSF106503 2002 07 15 $5,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF101562
YUSF101562 2002 07 17 $1,000.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101641
YUSF101641 2002 07 20 $600.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101647
YUSF101647 2002 07 26 $2,000.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101642
YUSF101642 2002 07 26 $300.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101595
YUSF101595 2002 07 26 $2,400.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed
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Criminal
Case Bates

No.
Hamed v Yusuf

Bates No. Date
Amount of
Receipt Description

None
YUSF106504
YUSF106504 2002 07 27 $5,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106505
YUSF106505 2002 07 29 $5,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF101560
YUSF101560 2002 07 30 $2,000.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101561
YUSF101561 2002 07 30 $2,000.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101559
YUSF101559 2002 07 30 $2,500.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101572
YUSF101572 2002 07 31 $80.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101640
YUSF101640 2002 07 31 $950.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101586
YUSF101586 2002 08 03 $3,000.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF106507
YUSF106507 2002 08 05 $300.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF101564
YUSF101564 2002 08 06 $4,000.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101565
YUSF101565 2002 08 06 $6,000.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF106509
YUSF106509 2002 08 07 $200.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106510
YUSF106510 2002 08 08 $50,025.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106511
YUSF106511 2002 08 16 $5,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106512
YUSF106512 2002 08 20 $200.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF106513
YUSF106513 2002 08 22 $3,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF101591
YUSF101591 2002 08 26 $2,000.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101592
YUSF101592 2002 08 29 $5,000.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101570
YUSF101570 2002 09 05 $500.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101593
YUSF101593 2002 09 09 $1,000.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101575
YUSF101575 2002 09 10 $300.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed
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Criminal
Case Bates

No.
Hamed v Yusuf

Bates No. Date
Amount of
Receipt Description

None
YUSF101636
YUSF101636 2002 09 11 $1,200.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101573
YUSF101573 2002 09 12 $500.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101574
YUSF101574 2002 09 13 $10.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101638
YUSF101638 2002 09 14 $500.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101637
YUSF101637 2002 09 14 $300.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101639
YUSF101639 2002 09 15 $1,000.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101566
YUSF101566 2002 09 16 $5,000.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101675
YUSF101675 2002 09 19 $732.00 Hamed receipt for Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101643
YUSF101643 2002 09 22 $1,000.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101567
YUSF101567 2002 09 25 $2,500.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101577
YUSF101577 2002 09 25 $210.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

340 0001
HAMD595883
HAMD595883 2002 09 26 $4,000.00

Receipt to Waleed Hamed signed by Waleed
Hamed for $4,000

None
YUSF101576
YUSF101576 2002 09 26 $50.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101568
YUSF101568 2002 09 26 $5,000.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF106515
YUSF106515 2002 09 27 $200.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF101644
YUSF101644 2002 09 28 $500.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101569
YUSF101569 2002 10 01 $2,000.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101673
YUSF101673 2002 10 10 $3,000.00 Hamed receipt for Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101635
YUSF101635 2002 10 17 $3,000.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101677
YUSF101677 2002 10 24 $60.00 Hamed receipt for Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF101660
YUSF101660 2002 11 01 $500.00 Hamed receipt for Mufeed Hamed
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Criminal
Case Bates

No.
Hamed v Yusuf

Bates No. Date
Amount of
Receipt Description

None
YUSF101631
YUSF101631 2002 12 12 $471.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed

None
YUSF106497
YUSF106497 2003 06 23 $5,000.00 Receipt to Waleed Hamed

None
YUSF101632
YUSF101632 2004 12 21 $300.00 Hamed receipt to Mufeed Hamed
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Criminal
Case

Bates No.

Hamed v
Yusuf Bates

No. Date
Amount of
Receipt Description

159 0480
HAMD593177
HAMD593178 1997 12 28 $0.00 Summary of STT receipts from 12/27/96 12/28/97

159 0477
HAMD593179
HAMD593181 1998 12 31 $0.00 Summary of STT receipts from 1/20/98 12/31/98

159 0600
HAMD255290
HAMD255291 1999 12 31 $0.00 STT summary of receipts from 1/11/99 12/31/99

069 0694
HAMD593188
HAMD593189 2000 12 26 $0.00 Summary of STT Receipts from 1/5/00 12/26/00

449 1453
HAMD212927
HAMD212928 2001 03 29 $445.50

Yusuf receipt to Yusuf Yusuf
Signed by: Yusuf Yusuf

449 1448
HAMD212922
HAMD212922 2001 03 31 $1,135.00

Yusuf receipt to Yusuf Yusuf
For: Juan Rosario, contractor, for repairs on building
for United Corporation
Signed by: Yusuf Yusuf and Juan Rosario
Written by: Yusuf Yusuf

449 1626
YUSF106673
YUSF106673 2001 04 02 $1,000.00

For Juan rosario (contractor), written by yufus,
initials are yufus and signed on the bottom by juan
rosario.

449 0480
HAMD211926
HAMD211926 2001 04 19 $500.00

Yusuf receipt to Yusuf Yusuf
For: Juan Rosario, contractor payment for
materials for United Corporation
Signed by: Not signed
Written by: Yusuf Yusuf

449 0503
HAMD211949
HAMD21194 2001 04 25 $400.00

Yusuf receipt to Yusuf Yusuf
For: Juan Rosario, contractor, for Yusuf Yusuf's
house repair
Signed by: Yusuf Yusuf
Written by: Yusuf Yusuf

449 1651
HAMD213130
HAMD213130 2001 04 25 $400.00

Yusuf receipt to Yusuf Yusuf
For: Juan Rosario, contractor, for house repair to
Yusuf Yusuf's house
Signed by: Yusuf Yusuf
Written by: Yusuf Yusuf

449 1463
HAMD212939
HAMD212939 2001 04 26 $4,260.00

Yusuf receipt to Yusuf Yusuf
For: Juan Rosario, contractor, for repairs to United
shopping plaza
Signed by: Yusuf Yusuf and Juan Rosario
Written by: Yusuf Yusuf



21

Criminal
Case

Bates No.

Hamed v
Yusuf Bates

No. Date
Amount of
Receipt Description

449 0439
HAMD211883
HAMD211886 2001 04 30 $134.89

Yusuf receipt to Yusuf Yusuf
For: Appears to be personal items, but could be
store also
Signed by: Yusuf Yusuf
Written by: Yusuf Yusuf

449 1406
HAMD212877
HAMD212877 2001 05 01 $305.00

Yusuf receipt to Yusuf Yusuf
For: Juan Rosario, contractor, for United
Corporation shopping plaza materials
Signed by: Yusuf Yusuf and Juan Rosario
Written by: Unknown

449 1434
HAMD212907
HAMD212907 2001 05 09 $400.00

Yusuf receipt to Yusuf Yusuf
For: Water for Yusuf Yusuf's house
Signed by: Yusuf Yusuf
Written by: Yusuf Yusuf

449 0447
HAMD211891
HAMD211891 2001 05 10 $500.00

Yusuf receipt to Yusuf Yusuf
For: Loan for the brother of the owner of Best
Furniture, Akil A Husscin
Signed by: Yusuf Yusuf and Akil A Husscin
Written by: Unknown

449 1414
HAMD212887
HAMD212891 2001 05 10 $510.00

Yusuf receipt to Yusuf Yusuf
For: House materials. Money came from the safe
from behind the service counter (called the
backsafe)
Signed by: Yusuf Yusuf and Juan Rosario
Written by: Unknown

449 1676
HAMD213155
HAMD213155 2001 05 10 $700.00

Yusuf receipt to Yusuf Yusuf
For: Loan (unknown to whom or by whom)
Signed by: Yusuf Yusuf
Written by: Yusuf Yusuf

449 0141
HAMD211578
HAMD211578 2001 05 14 $60.00

Yusuf receipt to Yusuf Yusuf
For: Al (no other info is known)
Signed by: Yusuf Yusuf
Written by: Yusuf Yusuf

449 1498
HAMD212973
HAMD212974 2001 05 23 $17.97

Yusuf receipt to Yusuf Yusuf
For: Carib Home center for foam sealant
Signed by: Yusuf Yusuf
Written by: Yusuf Yusuf

449 1319
HAMD212787
HAMD212787 2001 05 30 $1,763.55

Yusuf receipt to Yusuf Yusuf
For: Unknown
Signed by: Yusuf Yusuf
Written by: Unknown
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Criminal
Case

Bates No.

Hamed v
Yusuf Bates

No. Date
Amount of
Receipt Description

449 0975
HAMD212431
HAMD212431 2001 06 13 $275.00

Yusuf receipt to Yusuf Yusuf
For: Money to Yusuf Yusuf's younger brother, Zayed
Yusuf
Signed by: Mufeed Hamed
Written by: Unknown

449 0967
HAMD212423
HAMD212423 2001 06 14 $500.00

Yusuf receipt to Yusuf Yusuf
For: brother of the owner of Best Furniture, Akil
Husscin.
Signed by: Not signed, but initialed by Yusuf Yusuf

449 1632
HAMD213111
HAMD213111 2001 06 20 $1,500.00

Yusuf receipt to Yusuf Yusuf
For: Loan from Yusuf Yusuf to Ala (perhaps a
cousin)
Signed by: Yusuf Yusuf
Written by: Yusuf Yusuf

449 1623
HAMD213102
HAMD213102 2001 06 24 $1,000.00

Yusuf receipt to Yusuf Yusuf
For: Yusuf loan (don't know what the loan was for
or who it was to)
Signed by: Yusuf Yusuf
Written by: Yusuf Yusuf

449 0539
HAMD211985
HAMD211985 2001 06 25 $100.00

Yusuf receipt to Yusuf Yusuf
For: Garfield, contractor, to repair shopping center
Signed by: G. St. Ange
Written by: Unknown

449 0803
HAMD212257
HAMD212257 2001 06 30 $90.00

Yusuf receipt to Yusuf Yusuf
For: Garfield, contractor, to install warehouse doors
on a new bay
Signed by: Yusuf Yusuf
Written by: Unknown

449 1624
HAMD213103
HAMD213103 2001 07 05 $136.92

Yusuf receipt to Yusuf Yusuf
For: Garfield, contractor, for shopping center
roofing
Signed by: Unsigned
Written by: Unknown

449 1199
HAMD212659
HAMD212659 2001 07 08 $49.98

Yusuf receipt to Yusuf Yusuf
For: Materials for United shopping plaza. Shows
received by A. St. Ange
Signed by: Yusuf Yusuf
Written by: Unknown

449 1231
HAMD212696
HAMD212696 2001 07 20 $1,004.45

Yusuf receipt to Yusuf Yusuf
For: Juan Rosario, contractor
Signed by: Juan Rosario and initialed by Yusuf Yusuf
Written by: Yusuf Yusuf

449 1604
HAMD213083
HAMD213083 2001 07 25 $900.00

Yusuf receipt to Yusuf Yusuf
For: 2 week payed out
Written by: Yusuf Yusuf
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Criminal
Case

Bates No.

Hamed v
Yusuf Bates

No. Date
Amount of
Receipt Description

449 0977
HAMD212433
HAMD212433 2001 08 16 $280.67

Yusuf receipt to Fathi Yusuf
For: 267.3 gallons of diesel fuel
Signed by: Fathi Yusuf
Written by: Unknown

069 0483
HAMD593190
HAMD593191 2001 09 08 $18,837.40 Summary of STT receipts from 1/3/01 9/18/01

069 0308
HAMD580428
HAMD580431 2001 10 13 $593,298.27 Summary of Yusuf House from 5/2/99 10/13/01

254 0462
HAMD428976
HAMD428976 2001 10 19 $52,233.00 Yusuf receipt to Maher Yusuf
HAMD594676
HAMD594676 2003 04 15 $92,077.00 Yusuf receipt made out to Maher Yusuf
HAMD594275
HAMD594275 2003 09 13 $900.00 Trackhoe house receipt for $750
HAMD594283
HAMD594283 2012 01 28 $2,000.00 Yusuf receipt for $2,000 loan to Maher Yusuf

449 0525
HAMD211971
HAMD211971 NA $150.00

Yusuf receipt to Yusuf Yusuf
For: Garfield, contractor, for shopping center
roofing
Signed by: Yusuf Yusuf
Written by: Yusuf Yusuf

None
HAMD595221
HAMD595221 NA $6,300.50 Receipt from Najeh Yusuf

Criminal
Case Bates

No.

Hamed v
Yusuf Bates

No. Date
Amount of
Receipt Description

None
HAMD595671
HAMD595671 2002 08 07 $30,000.00

18603 Check to Waleed Hamed signed by Waleed
Hamed for $30,000 written on the Scotiabank Plaza
Extra account

None
HAMD595672
HAMD595672 2002 09 03 $20,000.00

18854 Check to Waleed Hamed signed by Waleed
Hamed for $20,000 written on the Scotiabank Plaza
Extra account

None
HAMD595673
HAMD595673 2002 09 27 $20,000.00

19192 Check to Waleed Hamed signed by Waleed
Hamed for $20,000 written on the Scotiabank Plaza
Extra account

None
HAMD595674
HAMD595674 2002 10 04 $20,000.00

19259 Check to Waleed Hamed signed by Waleed
Hamed for $20,000 written on the Scotiabank Plaza
Extra account

None
HAMD595675
HAMD595675 2002 11 05 $20,000.00

19545 Check to Waleed Hamed signed by Waleed
Hamed for $20,000 written on the Scotiabank Plaza
Extra account
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None
HAMD595676
HAMD595676 2002 12 09 $25,000.00

19958 Check to Waleed Hamed signed by Waleed
Hamed for $25,000 written on the Scotiabank Plaza
Extra account

Criminal
Case Bates

No.

Hamed v
Yusuf Bates

No. Date
Amount of
Receipt Description

None
YUSF100912
YUSF100912 2012 08 15 $2,784,706.25

$2.7 million check to United Corporation signed
by Fathi Yusuf and Yusuf Yusuf

Criminal
Case
Bates
No.

Hamed v Yusuf
Bates No. Date

Amount of
Receipt Description

None
HAMD592648
HAMD592648 2001 11 09 $20,000.00

Check 11114 written on Plaza Extra Scotiabank
account to Fathi Yusuf and signed by Fathi Yusuf

None
HAMD592649
HAMD592650 2002 06 09 $50,000.00

Check 12187 written to Fathi Yusuf and signed by
Fathi Yusuf for $50,000 on Plaza Extra Scotiabank
account

None
HAMD592651
HAMD592651 2002 07 23 $115,150.00

Check No. 12419 written on Plaza Extra
Scotiabank account to the Bank of Nova Scotia
signed by Fathi Yusuf

HAMD592667R
HAMD592668R 2002 09 15 $20,050.00

Check No. 12692 written on Plaza Extra
Scotiabank account to Scotiabank signed by Fathi
Yusuf

None
HAMD592669
HAMD592669 2002 09 23 $150,080.00

Check No. 19115 written on Plaza Extra
Scotiabank account to Fathi Yusuf and signed by
Fathi Yusuf

None
HAMD592652
HAMD592653 2002 10 03 $50,000.00

Check No. 12813 written on Plaza Extra
Scotiabank account to Fathi Yusuf and signed by
Fathi Yusuf

None
HAMD592670
HAMD592671 2002 10 21 $100,055.00

Check No. 12944 written on Plaza Extra
Scotiabank account to Scotiabank signed by Fathi
Yusuf

None
HAMD592670
HAMD592671 2002 10 24 $100,055.00

Check No. 12977 written on Plaza Extra
Scotiabank account to Scotiabank

None
HAMD592654
HAMD592654 2002 11 20 $6,010.00

Check No. 13145 written on Plaza Extra
Scotiabank account to the Bank of Nova Scotia
signed by Fathi Yusuf

None
HAMD592655
HAMD592656 2002 12 23 $25,000.00

Check No. 13356 written on Plaza Extra
Scotiabank account to Fathi Yusuf and signed by
Fathi Yusuf

None
HAMD592672
HAMD592672 2003 07 07 $25,000.00

Check No. 14509 written on Plaza Extra
Scotiabank account to Nejeh Yusuf
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Criminal
Case
Bates
No.

Hamed v Yusuf
Bates No. Date

Amount of
Receipt Description

None
HAMD592673
HAMD592673 2003 07 14 $25,000.00

Check No. 14564 to Najeh Yusuf for $25,000,
written on Plaza Extra Scotiabank checking
account

None
HAMD592657
HAMD592657 2003 07 14 $23,114.00

Check No. 14560 written on Plaza Extra
Scotiabank account to Scotiabank signed by Fathi
Yusuf

None
HAMD592674
HAMD592674 2003 07 30 $25,000.00

Check No. 14643 written on Plaza Extra
Scotiabank account to Nejeh Yusuf

None
HAMD592675
HAMD592675 2003 08 20 $25,000.00

Check No. 14787 written on Plaza Extra
Scotiabank account to Najeh Yusuf

None
HAMD592676
HAMD592676 2003 09 08 $25,000.00

Check No. 14889 written on Plaza Extra
Scotiabank account to Najeh Yusuf

None
HAMD592658
HAMD592658 2003 09 15 $25,000.00

Check No. 14922 written on Plaza Extra
Scotiabank account to Fathi Yusuf and signed by
Fathi Yusuf

None
HAMD592659
HAMD592659 2004 02 19 $12,213.45

Check No. 15626 written on Plaza Extra
Scotiabank account to Najeh Yusuf and signed by
Fathi Yusuf

None
HAMD592660
HAMD592660 2004 05 20 $25,000.00

Check No. 15765 written on Plaza Extra
Scotiabank account to Fathi Yusuf and signed by
Fathi Yusuf

None
HAMD592660
HAMD592660 2004 06 14 $25,000.00

Check No. 15819 written on Plaza Extra
Scotiabank account to Fathi Yusuf and signed by
Fathi Yusuf

None
HAMD592677
HAMD592678 2004 07 05 $25,000.00

Check No. 15857 written on Plaza Extra
Scotiabank account to Fathi Yusuf

None
HAMD592677
HAMD592678 2004 07 08 $908.40

Check No. 15868 written on Plaza Extra
Scotiabank account to Fathi Yusuf

None
HAMD592661
HAMD592661 2004 07 19 $14,000.00

Check No. 15891 written on Plaza Extra
Scotiabank account to Fathi Yusuf and signed by
Fathi Yusuf

None
HAMD592662
HAMD592662 2004 07 29 $25,000.00

Check No. 15921 written on Plaza Extra
Scotiabank account to Fathi Yusuf and signed by
Fathi Yusuf

None
HAMD592662
HAMD592662 2004 08 10 $25,000.00

Check No. 15943 written on Plaza Extra
Scotiabank account to Fathi Yusuf and signed by
Fathi Yusuf

None
HAMD592663
HAMD592663 2004 08 30 $25,000.00

Check No. 15975 written on Plaza Extra
Scotiabank account to Fathi Yusuf and signed by
Fathi Yusuf



26

Criminal
Case
Bates
No.

Hamed v Yusuf
Bates No. Date

Amount of
Receipt Description

None
HAMD592663
HAMD592663 2004 09 20 $25,000.00

Check No. 16009 written on Plaza Extra
Scotiabank account to Fathi Yusuf and signed by
Fathi Yusuf

None
HAMD592664
HAMD592664 2004 09 24 $25,000.00

Check No. 16026 written on Plaza Extra
Scotiabank account to Fathi Yusuf and signed by
Fathi Yusuf

None
HAMD592664
HAMD592664 2004 10 06 $10,000.00

Check No. 16039 written on Plaza Extra
Scotiabank account to Fathi Yusuf and signed by
Fathi Yusuf

None
HAMD592679
HAMD592679 2004 10 21 $25,000.00

Check No. 16062 written on Plaza Extra
Scotiabank account to Najeh Yusuf

None
HAMD592680
HAMD592680 2004 11 03 $25,000.00

Check No. 16084 written on Plaza Extra
Scotiabank account to Najeh Yusuf

Criminal Case
Bates No.

Hamed v Yusuf
Bates No. Date

Amount of
Property Description

None
HAMD583991
HAMD583991 NA $802,966.00 Dorthea property calculation

Criminal Case
Bates No.

Hamed v Yusuf
Bates No. Date

Amount of
Bank Account Description

None
HAMD200103
HAMD200103 2012 08 15 $44,355.00 50% St. Maarten bank account

None
HAMD200103
HAMD200103 2012 08 15 $44,969.00 50% Cairo Amman Bank bank account



Exhibit 3 John Gaffney Testimony (Preliminary Injunction, 1/31/2013 and
Deposition, 04/03/2014) and Responses to Interrogatories Regarding the State
of United and Plaza Extras' Financials



2. Exhibit B – January 31, 2013 Preliminary Injunction Hearing of John Gaffney: 

John Gaffney's Accounting Credentials 
Mr. Gaffney stated that he has spent approximately 15 to 20 years in public accounting. 

(p. 65:21-22) 
Q [DiRuzzo]. . . . And what about your professional 
experience? . . . 
(p. 66:18-22) 
Q . . . . And, sir, how many years have you spent 
in public accounting? 
A Well, I've been in an out of private 
accounting, but I've spent probably about 15 to 20 
years in public. 

Mr. Gaffney noted that he spent 15 years in private accounting. 

(p. 65:21-22) 
Q [DiRuzzo]. . . . And what about your professional 
experience? . . . 
(p. 66:23-24) 
Q What about the private accounting? 
A [John Gaffney] Private accounting another 15 years. 

Mr. Gaffney stated that he was certified as a public accountant in 1975 in Florida.  His 
license was active for six years. 

(p. 65:21-22) 
Q [DiRuzzo]. . . . And what about your professional 
experience? . . . 
(p. 67:4-12) 
Q And were you previously a certified public 
accounting?
A [John Gaffney] Yes, I was. I got certified in 1975. 
Q And you held a license -- or what jurisdiction 
issued you that license as a certified public 
accountant?
A Florida. 
Q And how long was that license active for? 
A It was active for six years. 



John Gaffney's opinion of the result of an audit of United's Financials on January 
31, 2013 

Mr. Gaffney stated that if a C.P.A. firm came into do an audit of the United financials, it 
probably would have cost $500,000 and resulted in either a no opinion or an adverse 
opinion. 

(p. 70:15-17) 
Q [DiRuzzo]. . . . Now, sir, when you arrived and 
started working for United Corporation, what did you 
initially observe? . . . 
 (p. 81:20-25) 
Q . . . Sir, are you familiar with the phrase 
or term "audit report"? 
A [John Gaffney] Yes. 
Q What is that? 
A Well, the audit report usually is the entire 
set of financial statements that's accompanied by an 
(p. 82:1-8) 
opinion from the outside C.P.A. firm. 
Q And are there -- is there more than one type 
of opinion from a C.P.A. firm? 
A Yes. 
Q And can you describe what those opinions are? 
A Well, there is a no opinion. There is an 
adverse opinion. Then there is, of course, favorable 
opinion, which is what everybody seeks. . . . 
(p. 82:18-25) 
Q So when you came in to United Corporation and 
started the work, how would you characterize the 
ability or the type of opinion that a C.P.A. firm would 
be able to render? 
A Well, having been recently, having gone 
through the process recently and having spent $250,000 
on an audit, I can honestly say that we could have 
probably spent a half million dollars and probably 
(p. 83:1-2) 
wound up with either a no opinion or an adverse 
opinion. 

Exhibit B - April 3, 2014 Deposition of John Gaffney, at page 25, line 15:  

A. Well, a decision was made early on to set up separate accounting 
departments in each location. Prior to my coming here, there was only one 
accounting department over in St. Thomas. The operations of East and West 



were rolled up in a series of about five journal entries in each location. 
They totally lacked controls. It was simply a bank analysis. They were 
being called bank reconciliations, but they were nothing more than bank 
analysis, and the income was being posted according to the deposits being made 
to the bank. If a deposit didn't make it, go to the bank, it didn't get reported as 
income. ---page 26-- So, essentially, the decision was made to put in a -- an 
accounting system in all three locations that would have the same system of 
controls, and the -- the most major thing that was implemented was the interface 
between Point of Sale and Peachtree.

Q. So you said early on that you were brought in pursuant to a court order, or 
something like that, to try to fix what I think you described it as pretty much a -- a 
total mess. Would that be true?

A. Yeah, it was pretty -- it was a pretty good description that it was a pretty total 
mess before. 

. . .continuing  at page 26, line 20:

Q. Okay. And do you know where -- where the -- where the accounting records 
were before -- you've given me 2012 and 2013, is that correct?

A. Correct, yeah.

Q. Okay. And do you have any idea where the accounting records are for 2002 
through 2011? ---page 27--

A. Well, I know that there are accounting records over in the warehouse at St. 
Thomas. I've been up there, --

Q. Uh-huh.

A. -- and I got tired of looking for things, because I couldn't really get anything 
that was too cohesive. Now, when I first came here, I was aware of being 
able to get financial statements that dated back to about 2005 and '6, but 
there was a hard drive crash, I believe it was December 17th, and Margie 
portrayed to me that she lost all her backups and everything in the 
process. We restored the accounting system from a backup that I had made on 
December 11th, after a great deal of effort to try and get that backup made.

Q. And for what year did you restore it?

A. Well, the -- my backup was made on December 11th, 2012, and what 
happened was the crash occurred on the 17th. I think by the 18th it was restored, 
and then we had to reconstruct that week's work. And I was in Miami, or I was in 
Florida at the time.



Q. I guess what I'm asking is, was it just 2012 financials, or did it go back? 
Would, for instance, 2006 be on it?  

A. There is some, there is some data in there. There's some general ledger data 
that goes back beyond two years. Sage maintains two years of detail, -- ---page 
28--

Q. Uh-huh.

A. -- but there are some comparative numbers that -- that go back beyond that. 
And in -- in the 2012 the backup that I gave you, that contains -- that contains all 
of that information. Nothing has changed, and that remains static right now, 
because once 2012 was closed, I've kept those, and I've -- I've been diligent 
about making sure that those records stay alive.

Q. Those are comparison numbers. Those aren't the actual financial 
transactional records for years before that, is that correct? 

A. Yeah. I mean, if I might look in here. 

Q. Certainly.

A. I think there's -- do you have the 2012s restored in here?

Q. Yep.

A. Okay. I don't see the 2012s in here.

Q. Well, I -- I didn't bring it today.  

A. Okay.

Q. It was brought from the CPA, so it's possible --

A. Okay. It seems to me, if my memory's correct, it seems to me I'm able to get 
comparative information that goes back to at least 2010.

Q. Okay. ---page 29--

A. If I do some comparative financial statements, I can get it at least through 
back to 2010.

Q. And your recollection is that the financial records before 2010 are in a 
warehouse?



A. The -- I'm hoping that there are hard copies of most of the records in the 
warehouse at St. Thomas. I did look for a lot of them after the crash, when I was 
trying to find things, but I -- I didn't have a great deal of success.

Q. Okay.

A. And I did find a -- spotty old backups on computers, but -- and I had to get 
help from Sage to -- to break through them, because they had old passwords and 
whatnot on them. But I didn't get anything cohesive, like I -- I had one old 
backup at East, and it was, you know, as far as I was concerned, East and West 
were just using it to process payroll and/or accounts payable, and it was being 
used much like a word processer. There was no integrity when it came to general 
ledgers or anything like that, or anything that would feed into a financial 
statement.

Exhibit B - Responses to Requests for Documents of September 19, 2013.

11. All documents showing the withdrawal of funds by any member of the Yusuf 
or Hamed families for the relevant time period from the funds generated by the 
three Plaza Extra Supermarkets, other than regular payroll checks. 

Response to Request No. 11:

Documents are possibly in the possession of the U.S. Government. 

12. All documents showing the accounting (or partial accounting) of funds 
withdrawn by any member of the Yusuf or Hamed families for the relevant time 
period from the funds generated by the three Plaza Extra Supermarkets, other 
than regular payroll checks. 

Response to Request No. 12:

As testified by Maher Yusuf in the TRO, these documents were produced to 
Counsel for Plaintiff during informal Mediation. Other documents relating to this 
Request for Production of Document are possibly in possession of the U.S. 
Government, except for the August 26, 2013, Production of Documents (Bates 
#1 through Bates #111638) from the Criminal Case already provided on CDs. 

Exhibit C - The 2/6/14 Hamed deficiency letter to Yusuf

Original Interrogatory 18. Describe all financial and accounting systems 
or records which contain, include or otherwise reflect transactions 
involving Plaza Extra Supermarkets for the years 2003 present other than 
those provided to Plaintiff as Sage 50 backup files.

ANSWER to ROG 18:



Yusuf objects to Interrogatory No. 18 because it is overly broad and 
unduly burdensome.  Further responding, Yusuf shows that the testimony 
of the current controller John Gaffney, as set forth at the Injunction 
Hearing, can provide a more accurate description of the accounting 
methods both computer and paper utilized by United as to the operations 
of the Plaza Extra Stores. Hence, Yusuf incorporates by reference the 
testimony of Mr. Gaffney as his response to this Interrogatory.

ROG 24. For the years 2003 to date, describe all bonus points, rebates or 
other valuable transfers to Fathi Yusuf or his sons in which they personally 
paid for food products or other purchases for Plaza Extra Supermarkets 
with their own personal credit cards and kept the points or monetary 
rebates.

ANSWER to ROG 24:

Responding Party objects to this interrogatory as overly broad, unduly 
burdensome, irrelevant and not reasonably calculated to lead to the 
discovery of admissible evidence.  Further responding, all miles, bonus 
points, rewards, etc., are the sole personal property of each cardholder.

Deficiency

This is an improper objection.  Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 33(b)(3), "[e]ach 
interrogatory must, to the extent it is not objected to, be answered separately and 
fully in writing under oath," lf an objection is made, "the grounds for objecting to 
an interrogatory must be stated with specificity.  Any ground not stated in a timely 
objection is waived unless the court, for good cause, excuses the failure.”  Fed. 
R. Civ. P. 33(b)(4) (emphasis added).  The purported "objections" are, therefore, 
not actually objections—as there is no specificity whatsoever.  Further, if 
Defendant is claiming protection for a party or person from "annoyance, 
embarrassment, oppression, or undue burden or expense," the parties must 
confer to attempt to resolve the dispute without court action.  lf no resolution is 
achieved, the Defendant must make a motion under Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(c)(1) for a 
protective order. 



2. Exhibit B – January 31, 2013 Preliminary Injunction Hearing of John Gaffney: 

John Gaffney's Accounting Credentials 
Mr. Gaffney stated that he has spent approximately 15 to 20 years in public accounting. 

(p. 65:21-22) 
Q [DiRuzzo]. . . . And what about your professional 
experience? . . . 
(p. 66:18-22) 
Q . . . . And, sir, how many years have you spent 
in public accounting? 
A Well, I've been in an out of private 
accounting, but I've spent probably about 15 to 20 
years in public. 

Mr. Gaffney noted that he spent 15 years in private accounting. 

(p. 65:21-22) 
Q [DiRuzzo]. . . . And what about your professional 
experience? . . . 
(p. 66:23-24) 
Q What about the private accounting? 
A [John Gaffney] Private accounting another 15 years. 

Mr. Gaffney stated that he was certified as a public accountant in 1975 in Florida.  His 
license was active for six years. 

(p. 65:21-22) 
Q [DiRuzzo]. . . . And what about your professional 
experience? . . . 
(p. 67:4-12) 
Q And were you previously a certified public 
accounting?
A [John Gaffney] Yes, I was. I got certified in 1975. 
Q And you held a license -- or what jurisdiction 
issued you that license as a certified public 
accountant?
A Florida. 
Q And how long was that license active for? 
A It was active for six years. 



John Gaffney's opinion of the result of an audit of United's Financials on January 
31, 2013 

Mr. Gaffney stated that if a C.P.A. firm came into do an audit of the United financials, it 
probably would have cost $500,000 and resulted in either a no opinion or an adverse 
opinion. 

(p. 70:15-17) 
Q [DiRuzzo]. . . . Now, sir, when you arrived and 
started working for United Corporation, what did you 
initially observe? . . . 
 (p. 81:20-25) 
Q . . . Sir, are you familiar with the phrase 
or term "audit report"? 
A [John Gaffney] Yes. 
Q What is that? 
A Well, the audit report usually is the entire 
set of financial statements that's accompanied by an 
(p. 82:1-8) 
opinion from the outside C.P.A. firm. 
Q And are there -- is there more than one type 
of opinion from a C.P.A. firm? 
A Yes. 
Q And can you describe what those opinions are? 
A Well, there is a no opinion. There is an 
adverse opinion. Then there is, of course, favorable 
opinion, which is what everybody seeks. . . . 
(p. 82:18-25) 
Q So when you came in to United Corporation and 
started the work, how would you characterize the 
ability or the type of opinion that a C.P.A. firm would 
be able to render? 
A Well, having been recently, having gone 
through the process recently and having spent $250,000 
on an audit, I can honestly say that we could have 
probably spent a half million dollars and probably 
(p. 83:1-2) 
wound up with either a no opinion or an adverse 
opinion. 

Exhibit B - April 3, 2014 Deposition of John Gaffney, at page 25, line 15:  

A. Well, a decision was made early on to set up separate accounting 
departments in each location. Prior to my coming here, there was only one 
accounting department over in St. Thomas. The operations of East and West 



were rolled up in a series of about five journal entries in each location. 
They totally lacked controls. It was simply a bank analysis. They were 
being called bank reconciliations, but they were nothing more than bank 
analysis, and the income was being posted according to the deposits being made 
to the bank. If a deposit didn't make it, go to the bank, it didn't get reported as 
income. ---page 26-- So, essentially, the decision was made to put in a -- an 
accounting system in all three locations that would have the same system of 
controls, and the -- the most major thing that was implemented was the interface 
between Point of Sale and Peachtree.

Q. So you said early on that you were brought in pursuant to a court order, or 
something like that, to try to fix what I think you described it as pretty much a -- a 
total mess. Would that be true?

A. Yeah, it was pretty -- it was a pretty good description that it was a pretty total 
mess before. 

. . .continuing  at page 26, line 20:

Q. Okay. And do you know where -- where the -- where the accounting records 
were before -- you've given me 2012 and 2013, is that correct?

A. Correct, yeah.

Q. Okay. And do you have any idea where the accounting records are for 2002 
through 2011? ---page 27--

A. Well, I know that there are accounting records over in the warehouse at St. 
Thomas. I've been up there, --

Q. Uh-huh.

A. -- and I got tired of looking for things, because I couldn't really get anything 
that was too cohesive. Now, when I first came here, I was aware of being 
able to get financial statements that dated back to about 2005 and '6, but 
there was a hard drive crash, I believe it was December 17th, and Margie 
portrayed to me that she lost all her backups and everything in the 
process. We restored the accounting system from a backup that I had made on 
December 11th, after a great deal of effort to try and get that backup made.

Q. And for what year did you restore it?

A. Well, the -- my backup was made on December 11th, 2012, and what 
happened was the crash occurred on the 17th. I think by the 18th it was restored, 
and then we had to reconstruct that week's work. And I was in Miami, or I was in 
Florida at the time.



Q. I guess what I'm asking is, was it just 2012 financials, or did it go back? 
Would, for instance, 2006 be on it?  

A. There is some, there is some data in there. There's some general ledger data 
that goes back beyond two years. Sage maintains two years of detail, -- ---page 
28--

Q. Uh-huh.

A. -- but there are some comparative numbers that -- that go back beyond that. 
And in -- in the 2012 the backup that I gave you, that contains -- that contains all 
of that information. Nothing has changed, and that remains static right now, 
because once 2012 was closed, I've kept those, and I've -- I've been diligent 
about making sure that those records stay alive.

Q. Those are comparison numbers. Those aren't the actual financial 
transactional records for years before that, is that correct? 

A. Yeah. I mean, if I might look in here. 

Q. Certainly.

A. I think there's -- do you have the 2012s restored in here?

Q. Yep.

A. Okay. I don't see the 2012s in here.

Q. Well, I -- I didn't bring it today.  

A. Okay.

Q. It was brought from the CPA, so it's possible --

A. Okay. It seems to me, if my memory's correct, it seems to me I'm able to get 
comparative information that goes back to at least 2010.

Q. Okay. ---page 29--

A. If I do some comparative financial statements, I can get it at least through 
back to 2010.

Q. And your recollection is that the financial records before 2010 are in a 
warehouse?



A. The -- I'm hoping that there are hard copies of most of the records in the 
warehouse at St. Thomas. I did look for a lot of them after the crash, when I was 
trying to find things, but I -- I didn't have a great deal of success.

Q. Okay.

A. And I did find a -- spotty old backups on computers, but -- and I had to get 
help from Sage to -- to break through them, because they had old passwords and 
whatnot on them. But I didn't get anything cohesive, like I -- I had one old 
backup at East, and it was, you know, as far as I was concerned, East and West 
were just using it to process payroll and/or accounts payable, and it was being 
used much like a word processer. There was no integrity when it came to general 
ledgers or anything like that, or anything that would feed into a financial 
statement.

Exhibit B - Responses to Requests for Documents of September 19, 2013.

11. All documents showing the withdrawal of funds by any member of the Yusuf 
or Hamed families for the relevant time period from the funds generated by the 
three Plaza Extra Supermarkets, other than regular payroll checks. 

Response to Request No. 11:

Documents are possibly in the possession of the U.S. Government. 

12. All documents showing the accounting (or partial accounting) of funds 
withdrawn by any member of the Yusuf or Hamed families for the relevant time 
period from the funds generated by the three Plaza Extra Supermarkets, other 
than regular payroll checks. 

Response to Request No. 12:

As testified by Maher Yusuf in the TRO, these documents were produced to 
Counsel for Plaintiff during informal Mediation. Other documents relating to this 
Request for Production of Document are possibly in possession of the U.S. 
Government, except for the August 26, 2013, Production of Documents (Bates 
#1 through Bates #111638) from the Criminal Case already provided on CDs. 

Exhibit C - The 2/6/14 Hamed deficiency letter to Yusuf

Original Interrogatory 18. Describe all financial and accounting systems 
or records which contain, include or otherwise reflect transactions 
involving Plaza Extra Supermarkets for the years 2003 present other than 
those provided to Plaintiff as Sage 50 backup files.

ANSWER to ROG 18:



Yusuf objects to Interrogatory No. 18 because it is overly broad and 
unduly burdensome.  Further responding, Yusuf shows that the testimony 
of the current controller John Gaffney, as set forth at the Injunction 
Hearing, can provide a more accurate description of the accounting 
methods both computer and paper utilized by United as to the operations 
of the Plaza Extra Stores. Hence, Yusuf incorporates by reference the 
testimony of Mr. Gaffney as his response to this Interrogatory.

ROG 24. For the years 2003 to date, describe all bonus points, rebates or 
other valuable transfers to Fathi Yusuf or his sons in which they personally 
paid for food products or other purchases for Plaza Extra Supermarkets 
with their own personal credit cards and kept the points or monetary 
rebates.

ANSWER to ROG 24:

Responding Party objects to this interrogatory as overly broad, unduly 
burdensome, irrelevant and not reasonably calculated to lead to the 
discovery of admissible evidence.  Further responding, all miles, bonus 
points, rewards, etc., are the sole personal property of each cardholder.

Deficiency

This is an improper objection.  Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 33(b)(3), "[e]ach 
interrogatory must, to the extent it is not objected to, be answered separately and 
fully in writing under oath," lf an objection is made, "the grounds for objecting to 
an interrogatory must be stated with specificity.  Any ground not stated in a timely 
objection is waived unless the court, for good cause, excuses the failure.”  Fed. 
R. Civ. P. 33(b)(4) (emphasis added).  The purported "objections" are, therefore, 
not actually objections—as there is no specificity whatsoever.  Further, if 
Defendant is claiming protection for a party or person from "annoyance, 
embarrassment, oppression, or undue burden or expense," the parties must 
confer to attempt to resolve the dispute without court action.  lf no resolution is 
achieved, the Defendant must make a motion under Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(c)(1) for a 
protective order. 



IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

MOHAMMED HAMED By His )CIVIL NO. SX-12-CV-370
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)ACTION FOR DAMAGES
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            v. )
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CORPORATION, )
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________________________________)

Thursday, January 31, 2013
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The above-entitled action came on for Hearing on a 
TRO, before the Honorable DOUGLAS A. BRADY, Judge, in 
Courtroom Number 211, commencing at approximately
9:12 a.m.
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S-O-E-F-F-I-N-G.

JOHN GAFFNEY,

having been called as a witness, and having been first 

duly sworn by the clerk of the court, was examined and 

testified, as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. DIRUZZO:

Q      Good morning, sir.

A      Good morning.

Q      Could you please state your name spelling your 

last name?

A      John Gaffney.  G-A-F-F-N-E-Y.

Q      And, sir, what is your current job occupation?

A      I work for United Corporation.  I am kind of a 

controller.

Q      Okay.  Sir, why don't we start off with your 

education.  Could you briefly tell us about your 

education?

A      I have a BSBA in accounting from University of 

Florida, 1973.

Q      Okay.  And what about your professional 

experience?

A      When I graduated, I went to work for a Big 

Eight accounting firm called Haskins & Sells.

Q      And, sir, could you spell that for the court 
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reporter?

A      Haskins & Sells, H-A-S-K-I-N-S & S-E-L-L-S.

Our international name was Delloitte Haskins & Sells 

and they merged.

Q      And, sir, is that accounting firm currently 

known at Delloitte & Touche?

A      Yes, it is.

Q      Okay.  And how long did you spend at Haskins & 

Sells?

A      Three years in the audit department, three and 

a half years.

Q      And after your tenure there, what did you do 

next?

A      I went out and began a practice of my own in 

the late 70s.

Q      And your practice consisted of?

A      It was primarily geared to tax work.

Q      Okay.  And, sir, how many years have you spent 

in public accounting?

A      Well, I've been in an out of private 

accounting, but I've spent probably about 15 to 20 

years in public.

Q      What about the private accounting?

A      Private accounting another 15 years.

Q      And do you have experience as -- well, are you 
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currently a certified public accountant?

A      No.  I let my license expire.  I went inactive 

in the mid-80s.

Q      And were you previously a certified public 

accounting?

A      Yes, I was.  I got certified in 1975.

Q      And you held a license -- or what jurisdiction 

issued you that license as a certified public 

accountant?

A      Florida.

Q      And how long was that license active for?

A      It was active for six years.

Q      Sir, do you have any experience in retail 

accounting?

A      Yes, I do.

Q      Why don't you tell us about that experience?

A      For about ten years I was part owner of a 

retail operation in Florida.  We had sixteen stores; 

fifteen stores in Florida, one in Georgia.

Q      Okay.  Now, sir, have you ever worked for a 

company known as Kazi Management?

A      Yes, I have.

Q      And what was your capacity?  What were you 

doing for Kazi Management?

A      I was the director of finance for them.
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financial statements.  Are you familiar with those?

A      Yes.

Q      And, sir, when a certified public accountant 

audits the management's financial statements, what do 

they do?

A      Well, there is an awful lot of analytic review 

being done today.  In earlier times there was an awful 

lot of selection that was done to verify things at, you 

know, to a source document.  If, for instance, you 

wanted to verify the validity of a particular expense, 

you would actually make that selection beginning at the 

general ledger and drilling down into, let's say, the 

purchases journal.  And then what you would do is you 

would examine the invoice for that purchase to 

determine the validity of it.

Income on the other hand was typically audited 

from the standpoint of determining where it begins, and 

it actually goes kind of opposite direction, but in a 

store in a retail operation it's always the P.O.S.

Q      Okay.  Sir, are you familiar with the phrase 

or term "audit report"?

A      Yes.

Q      What is that?

A      Well, the audit report usually is the entire 

set of financial statements that's accompanied by an 
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opinion from the outside C.P.A. firm.

Q      And are there -- is there more than one type 

of opinion from a C.P.A. firm?

A      Yes.

Q      And can you describe what those opinions are?

A      Well, there is a no opinion.  There is an 

adverse opinion.  Then there is, of course, favorable 

opinion, which is what everybody seeks.

Q      Okay.  Let's talk about an adverse opinion.

What is adverse opinion?

A      An adverse opinion is basically where a 

C.P.A. firms comes in, attempts to conduct work and 

can't form a conclusion as to the fair presentation of 

the financial statements.

Q      And what is no opinion?

A      A no opinion is there aren't sufficient books 

and records to even begin.

Q      So when you came in to United Corporation and 

started the work, how would you characterize the 

ability or the type of opinion that a C.P.A. firm would 

be able to render?

A      Well, having been recently, having gone 

through the process recently and having spent $250,000 

on an audit, I can honestly say that we could have 

probably spent a half million dollars and probably 
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wound up with either a no opinion or an adverse 

opinion.

Q      Okay.  Now, sir, with the work that you're 

performing, what is the goal, the end game so to speak 

of the work that the consulting with respect to audit 

is?

A      Well, aside from establishing a descent -- a 

good system of internal controls, it is to be able to 

generate financial statements with very, very good 

audit trails.  Theoretically, I could see an audit, the 

price of audit coming from what I just mentioned down 

to $50,000 with a good set of internal controls and 

also audit trails.

Q      So you're estimating the cost savings of 

approximately 450,000 based on when the work that 

you're performing is completed?

A      Yes.

Q      Sir, have you ever been asked by -- well, let 

me go back.  Are you familiar with any of the Hamed 

brothers?

A      Yes.

Q      And have you ever talked to them?

A      Yes.

Q      Okay.  Have you ever been asked by them to -- 

for them -- or for you to deliver to them your work 
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CARL J. HARTMANN III 
Attorney-at-Law 

5000 Estate Coakley Bay, L-6 
Christiansted, VI 00820 

  

                                                                TTELEPHONE 
   ADMITTED                                                       (340)  719-8941      

 NM & USVI                                                         ________ 

 
                                                                      EMAIL 

                                                         CARL@CARLHARTMANN.COM 

February 5, 2014

Nizar A. DeWood, Esq. By Email Only
The Dewood Law Firm
2006 Eastern Suburb, Suite 101
Christiansted, VI 00820

Greg H. Hodges, Esq. By Email Only
Dudley, Topper and Feuerzeig, LLP 
Law House 
1000 Fredericksberg Gade 
P. O. Box 756 
St. Thomas, VI 00804

RE: Rule 37 Deficiencies: Hamed v. Yusuf, 2012-CV-370
Corrected Responses to Plaintiff’s Request for 
Production of Documents and Interrogatories

Dear Counsel:  

My client received Defendant Yusuf's Corrected Responses to Plaintiff’s Request for 
the Production of Documents on January 9, 2014 and Defendant Yusuf's Answers to 
Plaintiff's Interrogatories to Defendant: First Set, on December 27, 2013.  After 
reviewing the responses and objections, my client has identified the following 
deficiencies -- and requests an opportunity to confer to correct those deficiencies 
pursuant to Rule 37 during the second week of February 10, 2014.  Would you please 
let me know what dates during that week work for a telephonic "meet and confer" on 
the following issues.

General Objections to the Request for Production of Documents

General Objection 2. Yusuf objects to each request to the extent it seeks 
the production of documents or information protected by the attorney-
client, work product or other privileges. Only non-privileged documents, or 
portions thereof, will be produced.



February 6, 2014 Rule 37 Letter
Page 20

ROG 16. Since 1990, have you ever notified any brokerage firm or trader 
to close any account (whether in your name or not) because of losses in 
trading stocks, future options or other securities? If so, please state:

a) the name of all such accounts and what firm held such accounts;
b) the total losses incurred by you (please estimate if the exact amount is 
not known); 
c) the years in which the losses occurred;
d) the name of the person or entity on each account;
e) the person authorized to trade each such account.

ANSWER to ROG 16:
Yusuf objects to Interrogatory No. 16 in that it is compound, irrelevant, 
overly broad, burdensome, and calls for information not reasonably 
calculated to the discovery of admissible evidence.

Deficiency
This is an improper objection.  Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 33(b)(3), "[e]ach interrogatory
must, to the extent it is not objected to, be answered separately and fully in writing 
under oath," lf an objection is made, "the grounds for objecting to an interrogatory must 
be stated with specificity.  Any ground not stated in a timely objection is waived unless 
the court, for good cause, excuses the failure.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 33(b)(4) (emphasis 
added).  The purported "objections" are, therefore, not actually objections—as there is 
no specificity whatsoever.  Further, if Defendant is claiming protection for a party or 
person from "annoyance, embarrassment, oppression, or undue burden or expense," 
the parties must confer to attempt to resolve the dispute without court action.  lf no 
resolution is achieved, the Defendant must make a motion under Fed. R. Civ. P. 
26(c)(1) for a protective order.

ROG 18. Describe all financial and accounting systems or records which 
contain, include or otherwise reflect transactions involving Plaza Extra 
Supermarkets for the years 2003 present other than those provided to 
Plaintiff as Sage 50 backup files.

ANSWER to ROG 18:
Yusuf objects to Interrogatory No. 18 because it is overly broad and 
unduly burdensome.  Further responding, Yusuf shows that the testimony 
of the current controller John Gaffney, as set forth at the Injunction 
Hearing, can provide a more accurate description of the accounting 
methods both computer and paper utilized by United as to the operations 
of the Plaza Extra Stores. Hence, Yusuf incorporates by reference the 
testimony of Mr. Gaffney as his response to this Interrogatory.



February 6, 2014 Rule 37 Letter
Page 21

ROG 24. For the years 2003 to date, describe all bonus points, rebates or 
other valuable transfers to Fathi Yusuf or his sons in which they personally
paid for food products or other purchases for Plaza Extra Supermarkets 
with their own personal credit cards and kept the points or monetary 
rebates.

ANSWER to ROG 24:
Responding Party objects to this interrogatory as overly broad, unduly
burdensome, irrelevant and not reasonably calculated to lead to the 
discovery of admissible evidence.  Further responding, all miles, bonus 
points, rewards, etc., are the sole personal property of each cardholder.

Deficiency
This is an improper objection.  Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 33(b)(3), "[e]ach interrogatory
must, to the extent it is not objected to, be answered separately and fully in writing 
under oath," lf an objection is made, "the grounds for objecting to an interrogatory must 
be stated with specificity.  Any ground not stated in a timely objection is waived unless 
the court, for good cause, excuses the failure.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 33(b)(4) (emphasis 
added).  The purported "objections" are, therefore, not actually objections—as there is 
no specificity whatsoever.  Further, if Defendant is claiming protection for a party or 
person from "annoyance, embarrassment, oppression, or undue burden or expense," 
the parties must confer to attempt to resolve the dispute without court action.  lf no 
resolution is achieved, the Defendant must make a motion under Fed. R. Civ. P. 
26(c)(1) for a protective order.

Please let me know what day you are available to meet and confer during the week of 

Sincerely,

A 
Carl J. Hartmann

cc: Joel H. Holt, Esq.



Exhibit 4 Documents in the Criminal Case (United States et. al., v Fathi Yusuf,
et. al., criminal no. 2005 15F/B) Obtained by the FBI During the FBI Raid (as
Supplied to Plaintiff by Defendants on August 1, 2013)

Note: the 881 page index and documents of the discovery items and description from
Defendants' Initial Rule 26 Disclosures are incorporated herein, but are not attached as a part
of this exhibit
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Exhibit 5 Plea Agreement and Supplemental Plea Agreements Pertaining to
Taxes Owed



PLEA AGREEMENT 

III Penalties 

3. Restitution in an amount that represents any and all unpaid gross 
receipts taxes, corporate income taxes, and individual income taxes owing 
to the VIBIR for the Indictment years 1996, 1997, 1998, 1999, 2000, and 
2001.  Said restitution is to be determined by the Court in accordance with 
the figures and ranges set forth in Exhibit 1., accepting as proven those 
figures stipulated by the parties. For those numbers still in dispute, the 
Court will determine the appropriate amount within the ranges proposed 
by the parties in Exhibit 1, following briefing, evidentiary presentation, and 
argument. In making its determination, the Court may consider all relevant 
and material evidence presented by the parties without regard to the 
Federal Rules of Evidence, so long as such evidence is disclosed in 
advance to the opposing party. Prior to submitting restitution amounts for 
the Court's consideration in preparation for sentencing, the parties agree 
to negotiate in good-faith to arrive at a mutually acceptable amount. 

p. 4-5, Plea Agreement, 02/26/2010, United States of America v Fathi Yusuf, et. al., 
criminal no. 2005-15F/B,  

XI  Cooperation with Internal Revenue Service and Virgin Islands Bureau of 
Internal Revenue 

Prior to sentencing, United agrees to cooperate with the Government and 
the VIBIR in filing complete and accurate corporate income tax returns 
and gross receipts returns for years 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005, 2006., 2007, 
and 2008 and in paying in full the amounts due thereupon. United agrees 
to comply with all current tax reporting and payment obligations between 
the execution of this agreement and sentencing. In addition, prior to the 
sentencing hearing in this matter, United's shareholders (FY 32.5%, FY 
32.5%, SY 7%, ZY 7%, YY 7 %, MY 7%, NY 7 %), and the individual 
defendants shall file the outstanding returns and reporting documents and 
shall make full payments of the amounts due thereupon. United 
acknowledges that a special condition of probation will require that all 
corporate returns be filed, and all amounts due and owing under this 
agreement and all taxes due and owing for tax years 2002 through 2008 
must be paid prior to the termination of the period of probation. 

p. 11, Plea Agreement, 02/26/2010, United States of America v Fathi Yusuf, et. al.,
criminal no. 2005-15F/B 



PLEA AGREEMENT- ADDENDUM 

"2) United will pay $10 million to the VIBIR for restitution, as set forth in Paragraphs 
III.A.3 and VIII.D; . . ." 

p. 1, Plea Agreement-Addendum, 02/07/2011, United States of America v Fathi Yusuf, 
et. al., criminal no. 2005-15F/B 

PLEA AGREEMENT – SECOND ADDENDUM 

2) On June 24, 2013, Magistrate Judge Geoffrey W. Barnard conducted a 
mediation session with the parties and representatives from the Virgin 
Islands Bureau of Internal Revenue (VIBIR). As a result of the mediation, 
the parties entered into closing agreements with the VIBIR for the years 
2002 through 2010. The VISIR agreed to enter into a similar agreement 
for 2011 and 2012 after the individual income tax returns have been filed 
and the tax due has been paid. A payment of $6,586,132 was remitted to 
the VIBIR. 

p. 1-2, Plea Agreement-Addendum, 06/24/2013, United States of America v Fathi 
Yusuf, et. al., criminal no. 2005-15F/B 
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Exhibit 6 – December 16, 2004 letter from Ron Soluri
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Exhibit 7 – November 15, 2004 Analysis of Fathi Yusuf Transactions at Cairo Amman Bank

Redacted



Exhibit 8 

3 Sage50 Backups from Gaffney 7/7/14 

 

(Supplied on Disc) 



Exhibit 9 No Accounting Exists to Support the Withdrawal of $2,784,706.25



FINDINGS OF FACT 

35. On or about August 15, 2012, Yusuf wrote a check signed by himself 
and his son Mahar Yusuf and made payment to United in the amount of 
$2,784,706.25 from a segregated Plaza Extra Supermarket operating 
account, despite written objection of Waleed Hamed on behalf of Plaintiff 
and the Hamed family, who claimed that, among other objections, the 
unilateral withdrawal violated the terms of the District Court's restraining 
order in the Criminal Action. Tr. 246:1- 250:14, Jan. 25, 2013; PLGroup 
Ex. 13. 

36. On the first hearing day, Mahar Yusuf, President of United Corporation 
testified under oath that he used the $2,784,706.25 withdrawn from the 
Plaza Extra operating account to buy three properties on St. Croix in the 
name of United. On the second hearing day, Mahar Yusuf contradicted his 
prior testimony and admitted that those withdrawn funds had actually been 
used to invest in businesses not owned by United, including a mattress 
business, but that none of the funds were used to purchase properties 
overseas. Tr. 250:2-251:15, Jan. 25, 2013; Tr. 118:12 -120: 2, Jan. 31, 
2013.

p. 10, Memorandum Opinion, 04/25/2013, Hamed v Yusuf, SX-12-cv-370 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

Footnote 9 
With regard to the August 2012 diversion of more than $2.7 million by Mahar Yusuf, 
president of United, to accounts inaccessible to Plaintiff, a real concern exists that 
continuing diversions will not be traceable as the Plaza Extra store have had no system 
of internal controls in existence and, to date accounting for the businesses is not 
completed beyond June 2012. (Testimony of accountant John Gaffney, Tr. 71:20 -72:3; 
75:11 -21, Jan. 31, 2013.) As such, the amount of any monetary loss suffered by 
Plaintiff may not be capable of ascertainment. 

p. 19, Memorandum Opinion, 04/25/2013, Hamed v Yusuf, SX-12-cv-370 
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Exhibit 10 – Attorney Fees Paid to Joe DiRuzzo, FUERST ITTLEMAN DAVID & JOSEPH, PL



Date Payee From Account Amount Check No.

2012 10 19 Fuerst Ittleman Plaza Extra Banco Popular 15,067.26$ 3979
2012 10 19 Fuerst Ittleman Plaza Extra Banco Popular 29,011.50$ 3977
2012 11 16 Fuerst Ittleman Plaza Extra Banco Popular 99,254.45$ 4195
2013 01 21 Fuerst Ittleman Plaza Extra Banco Popular 111,660.24$ 4642
2013 02 13 Fuerst Ittleman Plaza Extra Banco Popular 112,383.82$ 4819
2013 03 06 Fuerst Ittleman Plaza Extra Banco Popular 82,274.87$ 5055
2013 04 03 Fuerst Ittleman Plaza Extra Banco Popular 54,938.89$ 5193

504,591.03$

Exhibit 10 Payments After 1/1/2012 to Fuerst Ittlemen from Plaza
Account
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Exhibit 11 Payment of United Shopping Center Gross Receipt Taxes from Plaza Account



Exhibit 11 Payment of United Shopping Center Gross Receipt Taxes from Plaza Account

Date
United Shopping Plaza
Adjusted Gross Sales

United Shopping Center Plaza
Gross Receipt Tax Notes

Jan 12 $46,673.33 $2,100.30
Missing check(s) in the amount of
$279,868.40

Feb 12 $31,423.33 $1,414.05
Mar 12 $57,358.33 $2,867.92
Apr 12 $47,388.33 $2,369.42
May 12 $27,188.33 $1,359.42
Jun 12 $39,198.33 $1,959.92
Jul 12 $38,058.33 $1,902.92
Aug 12 $43,248.33 $2,162.42
Sep 12 $48,048.33 $2,402.42
Oct 12 $35,768.33 $1,788.42
Nov 12 $38,673.33 $1,933.67
Dec 12 $37,258.33 $1,862.92

Jan 13 $32,215.83 $1,610.79
Feb 13 $42,888.33 $2,144.42
Mar 13 No documents found
Apr 13 $23,318.33 $1,165.92
May 13 $34,019.16 $1,700.96
Jun 13 $33,908.33 $1,695.42
Jul 13 $26,138.33 $0.00
Aug 13 $33,150.83 $1,657.54
Sep 13 $28,355.83 $1,417.79
Oct 13 $32,038.58 $1,601.93
Nov 13 $33,725.83 $1,686.29
Dec 13 $31,283.33 $1,564.17

Jan 14 $31,268.33 $1,563.42
Feb 14 $39,718.33 $1,985.92
Mar 14 $29,118.33 $1,455.92
Apr 14 $54,468.33 $2,723.42
May 14 $34,208.33 $1,710.42

Total: $49,808.13



Exhibit 12 Overpayment of Insurance by Plaza Extra East



Year
Overpayment of Insurance
by PE East to United

2003 $26,068.20
2004 $26,068.20
2005 $47,679.36
2006 $47,679.36
2007 $40,979.76
2008 $40,979.76
2009 $75,132.96
2010 $68,381.15
2011 $75,132.96
2012 $75,435.52
2013 $67,957.76
2014 $67,957.76

Total Overpayment for 2012 2014: $211,351.04

Total Overpayment for 2003 2011: $448,101.71

Exhibit 12 Overpayment of Insurance by Plaza Extra East
for United Shopping Center



Insurance
Year 2003

2004
No Documents
available for

2004 Amounts
projected based

on 2003

2005
No Documents
available for

2005 Amounts
projected

based on 2006 2006 2007

2008
No Documents
available for

2008 Amounts
projected based

on 2007

2009
No Documents
available for

2009 Amounts
projected based

on 2011

2010
Some documents
missing for 2010

Amounts
projected based

on 2011 2011

2012
Some

documents
missing for 2012

Amounts
projected based

on 2011

2013
No documents
for 2013
Amounts

projected based
on 2014 2014

Document
Date 2003 07 15 N/A N/A 2006 08 01 2007 05 30 2008 12 11 N/A 2010 06 02 2011 11 22 N/A N/A

Policy Number KHD319854 N/A N/A Pending INF009010N01 PHFD37076739 N/A
B1115NFMI1011

1617 B1115P110016 N/A N/A B1115P140016

Insurer
Royal

Ins./C//SME, Inc. N/A N/A

Certain
Underwriters
at Lloyds

Certain
Underwriters at

Lloyds
Ace American
Insurance Co. N/A

Certain
Underwriters at

Lloyds

Certain
Underwriters at

Lloyds

Certain
Underwriters at

Lloyds N/A

Certain
Underwriters at

Lloyds
Covered From 2003 07 23 N/A N/A 2006 07 23 2007 06 01 N/A N/A 2010 06 01 2011 06 01 N/A N/A 2014 06 01
Covered To 2004 07 23 N/A N/A 2007 06 01 2008 06 01 N/A N/A 2011 06 01 2012 06 01 N/A N/A 2015 06 01

Total Amount
of Insurance $34,900,000.00 $34,900,000.00 $34,900,000.00 $34,900,000.00 $34,900,000.00 $34,900,000.00 $41,900,000.00 $41,900,000.00 $41,900,000.00 $41,900,000.00 $41,900,000.00 $41,900,000.00

Total Amount
of PE East Bldg $8,500,000.00 $8,500,000.00 $8,500,000.00 $8,500,000.00 $8,500,000.00 $8,500,000.00 $16,500,000.00 $16,500,000.00 $16,500,000.00 $16,500,000.00 $16,500,000.00 $16,500,000.00

Difference
between Total
Amt of Ins and
Total Amt of

PE East $26,400,000.00 $26,400,000.00 $26,400,000.00 $26,400,000.00 $26,400,000.00 $26,400,000.00 $25,400,000.00 $25,400,000.00 $25,400,000.00 $25,400,000.00 $25,400,000.00 $25,400,000.00
PE East

Percentage 24% 24% 24% 24% 24% 24% 39% 39% 39% 39% 39% 39%

Date of Check 2003 07 24 N/A N/A 2006 07 01 2007 06 21 N/A N/A N/A N/A 2012 06 06 N/A 2014 05 20
Amount of

Check (Policy
Payment) $207,567.20 $207,567.20 $379,645.33 $379,645.33 $326,300.00 $326,300.00 $370,000.00 $336,750.00 $370,000.00 $371,490.00 $334,665.00 $334,665.00

Total
Insurance Paid
for United
Shopping
Center $50,553.62 $50,553.62 $92,463.76 $92,463.76 $79,471.35 $79,471.35 $145,704.06 $132,610.38 $145,704.06 $146,290.81 $131,789.32 $131,789.32
Square

Footage of All
United

Shopping
Center 140,598 140,598 140,598 140,598 140,598 140,598 140,598 140,598 140,598 140,598 140,598 140,598

Square
Footage of PE
East Store 68,098 68,098 68,098 68,098 68,098 68,098 68,098 68,098 68,098 68,098 68,098 68,098



Insurance
Year 2003

2004
No Documents
available for

2004 Amounts
projected based

on 2003

2005
No Documents
available for

2005 Amounts
projected

based on 2006 2006 2007

2008
No Documents
available for

2008 Amounts
projected based

on 2007

2009
No Documents
available for

2009 Amounts
projected based

on 2011

2010
Some documents
missing for 2010

Amounts
projected based

on 2011 2011

2012
Some

documents
missing for 2012

Amounts
projected based

on 2011

2013
No documents
for 2013
Amounts

projected based
on 2014 2014

PE East
Percentage of
Total United
Shopping
Center 48% 48% 48% 48% 48% 48% 48% 48% 48% 48% 48% 48%

Amount Paid
for Insurance
for PE Store

Only $24,485.41 $24,485.41 $44,784.40 $44,784.40 $38,491.58 $38,491.58 $70,571.10 $64,229.23 $70,571.10 $70,855.29 $63,831.56 $63,831.56
Overpayment
for Insurance
by PE East to

United $26,068.20 $26,068.20 $47,679.36 $47,679.36 $40,979.76 $40,979.76 $75,132.96 $68,381.15 $75,132.96 $75,435.52 $67,957.76 $67,957.76

Note: Items italicized and bolded are projections

Total 2012
2014: $211,351.04

Total 2003
2011: $448,101.71



From: Joel Holt [mailto:holtvi@aol.com] 
Sent: Friday, May 30, 2014 6:01 PM
To: George H.T. Dudley
Cc: dewoodlaw@gmail.com; Gregory H. Hodges; Charlotte Perrell; 
carl@carlhartmann.com; kimjapinga@gmail.com
Subject: Re: Insurance Premiums

Of course Wally did the right thing to protect the partnership. Your email still does not 
address the wrong name of the insured being used. Likewise, two checks would help 
the accounting while preserving everyone's rights as the partnership cannot deduct the 
insurance premium for a shopping center it does not own. I do not understand why you 
do not want these issues straightened out other than it being easier to continue to cut 
corners than explaining to your client why the accounting needs to be done properly

Sent from my iPhone

On May 30, 2014, at 3:55 PM, "George H.T. Dudley" <gdudley@dtflaw.com> wrote:

Joel,

While the parties continue to work out resolution of the competing plans 
for the liquidation of the partnership, I think that the more appropriate 
course is to leave in place the court’s order maintaining the status 
quo. Consequently, the insurance should be paid as it has been in the 
past; i.e., as a single check out of the Plaza Extra Operating Account.

To your point about preserving claims between the partners vis a vis 
United expenses vs. expenses of the partnership, the insurance policy 
breaks out the components of the risks insured and the associated 
premium, consequently, the claims between the partners are preserved.

Finally, I am told that the insurance needs to be paid today and I urge you 
to have your client work with the Yusufs to get the premiums paid.

Regards,        ghtd

From: Joel Holt [mailto:holtvi@aol.com]
Sent: Wednesday, May 28, 2014 5:33 PM
To: dewoodlaw@gmail.com
Cc: Gregory H. Hodges; Charlotte Perrell; George H.T. Dudley; 
carl@carlhartmann.com; kimjapinga@gmail.com
Subject: Re: Insurance Premiums

All-based on Nizar's response, I have told my client to contact the 
insurance carrier and change the name of the named insured on the three 
stores a the partnership. As for the payment, I have no problem with doing 
two checks, one for the coverage for United's property (the shopping 



center) and one for the partnership interests, the three stores. I am also 
willing for the two checks to come out of the partnership accounts so long 
as the payment of the United portion is without prejudice to my client's 
position that this is a United obligation (and without prejudice to your 
position that this is a payment that the partnership should pay for whatever 
reason). If acceptable, please let me know and please have two checks 
prepared.

Joel H. Holt, Esq. 
2132 Company Street
Christiansted, St. Croix
U.S. Virgin Islands 00820
(340) 773-8709

-----Original Message-----
From: Nizar DeWood <dewoodlaw@gmail.com>
To: Joel Holt <holtvi@aol.com>
Cc: ghodges <ghodges@dtflaw.com>; cperrell <cperrell@dtflaw.com>; 
gdudley <gdudley@dtflaw.com>; carl <carl@carlhartmann.com>; 
kimjapinga <kimjapinga@gmail.com>
Sent: Tue, May 27, 2014 5:55 pm
Subject: Re: Insurance Premiums

Great. Let the partnership pay the premiums like it always has.

Sent from my iPhone

On May 27, 2014, at 5:31 PM, Joel Holt <holtvi@aol.com> wrote:

All-I sent an email about this on May 21st-the policy for the 
stores has to be in the name of the partnership and the 
shopping center is United's problem. Why is that problem?

Joel H. Holt, Esq. 
2132 Company Street
Christiansted, St. Croix
U.S. Virgin Islands 00820
(340) 773-8709

-----Original Message-----
From: NIZAR DEWOOD <dewoodlaw@gmail.com>
To: Joel Holt <holtvi@aol.com>
Cc: Gregory H. Hodges <ghodges@dtflaw.com>; Charlotte 
Perrell <cperrell@dtflaw.com>



Sent: Tue, May 27, 2014 4:57 pm
Subject: Insurance Premiums

There’s a $335k check that needs to be signed for the 
insurance premiums (the policy covers all stores). Wally has 
refused to sign it, despite the fact that such has been 
practice for the last 30 years. 

The insurance on all stores will expires May 31st, 2014. 
Please advise.

Nizar A. DeWood, Esq.

DeWood Law Firm
2006 Eastern Suburb, Suite 102
Christiansted, V.I. 00820
t. (340) 773.3444
f. (888) 398.8428

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: The information contained 
in this transmission is covered by the Electronic 
Communication Privacy Act, U.S.C. Sec. 2510-2521, and 
may contain confidential information, and is intended 
only for the use of the person or persons to which it is 
addressed. Any dissemination, distribution, duplication, 
or forwarding of this communication is strictly 
prohibited. If you are not the intended recipient, or 
believe you may have received this communication in 
error, please notify the sender immediately, and destroy 
all copies of the original message. Thank you.




























































